IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

RONNIE DEWEY BROWN,

STATE OF FLORIDA,	:			
Respondent.	:			
	:			

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal results from a decision of the First District Court of Appeal, <u>Brown v. State</u>, 10 FLW 400, (Fla. 1st DCA February 12, 1985). Petitioner will refer to documents in the appendix by the symbol "App." A copy of the opinion is enclosed in the appendix.

This appeal is a consolidation of two criminal cases originating in the Circuit Court of Okaloosa County. Two separately bound and numbered records have been prepared. References to the pages in the separate records will be preceded by the symbol "A" for the case pertaining to the assault charges and "T" for the case pertaining to the theft.

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was charged in one information with aggravated assault, aggravated battery, shooting into an occupied vehicle and carrying a concealed firearm (A 1-2). In another information he was charged with armed burglary of a structure, trafficking in firearms, and grand theft of firearms valued at \$20,000 or more (T 1-3).

At a consolidated hearing on the two informations petitioner pled nolo contendere to aggravated battery, aggravated assault and carrying a concealed firearm in the assault case and nolo contendere to unarmed burglary of a structure, dealing in stolen property and grand theft of property valued at over \$20,000 in the theft case (A 29-30).

The court inquired of petitioner about his understanding of the plea and the possible penalty. It was agreed that petitioner could be subjected to only one minimum mandatory three year sentence under §775.087(2) because the aggravated battery and aggravated assualt arose from the same set of circumstances (A 23-33).

The factual basis for the pleas was described as follows:

MR. GRINSTED: Judge, the State is prepared to prove on Case 83-1103, that on June 24, 1983 Stuart Sporting Goods Store was broken into with over twenty-thousand dollars worth of forearms and merchandise stolen out of that. On that very same day, this defendant and two other subjects, one known by the name of McLean and one by the name of Aguillar, sold a large number of these guns, twenty-five of them to James Boyett, Dennis Barber and Larry Fonte. The guns were recovered and identified as coming from the burglary. McLean later admitted to Mr. Boyett that he, the defendant and Mr. Aguillar burglarized the building by punching a hole in the cement floor.

- 2 -

Stewart's Sporting Goods was broken into by punching a hole in the cement floor. Mr. McLean also stated that although he and Mr. Aguillar went inside, that this defendant, Ronnie Brown, acted as the lookout in the case. That offense occurred in Okaloosa County, Florida.

As far as Case 83-1089, the State is prepared to prove that on August 28, 1983, that at the Taco Rancho on Elgin Parkway, Mr. Ronnie Brown got into a confrontation with some individuals by the name of Martin Wilson and David Gurley. During this confrontation Mr. Brown pulled out a firearm which he had concealed in a scabbard hung over his shoulder, took the firearm and pointed it at Martin Wilson, at his face, and said words to the effect that "your life is not worth fifty cents." Mr. Wilson took offerunning and Mr. Brown chased after him. Three other individuals that were with Mr. Wilson at that time got into their [car] to go chase down the victim in that case, Martin Wilson, and the de-fendant Ronnie Brown. When the got up to Brown and Wilson, they stopped the car. Mr. Brown took a couple of shots at Mr. Wilson there, then he turned the gun on to the car and fired into the car, hit-ting David Gurley in the side of the head. Those offenses occurred in Okaloosa County, also.

(A 35,36).

Upon inquiry by the judge, petitioner's counsel said that "the negotiation really was built around the [sentencing] guidelines and the defendant desires to accept the guidelines" (A 36-37). A presentence investigation report was prepared and is included in the record (A 56-67).

At the sentencing hearing the parties agreed to the accuracy of a guidelines scoresheet, in which petitioner received 203 points, with a recommended range of sentence between four and a half to five and a half years incarceration (A 44).

After settling on the proper scoring, the trial judge said:

JUDGE: Gentlemen, the Court has indicated in the past in counsels' presence, some

- 3 -

problems with the sentencing guidelines in some circumstances. And the Court in this case finds, after long discussions with counsel and after completing a technically correct sentencing guideline sheet, that the recommended sentence in this case is four and a-half tofive and a-half years.

The Court finds that this sentence is, in this particular case, inadequate punishment for the defendant's prior behavior.

(A 45).

The court departed from the guidelines and imposed a total sentence of 40 years, giving petitioner five years for aggravated assault, 15 years for aggravated battery, and five years for carrying a concealed firearm, all to run consecutively and five years each on the burglary, theft and trafficking charges, also to run consecutively. The sentencing form for the consecutively imposed sentences for aggravated battery and aggravated assault indicate that the three year minimum mandatory for possession of a firearm applies (R 14-15).

After the sentence was announced petitioner attempted to withdraw the election for guideline sentencing, but the request was denied (A 51).

The court's written reasons for departing from the guidelines were:

> The guidelines recommend a sentence of 4 1/1 - 5 1/2 years (202 points). The Court finds that this recommended sentence is inadequate punishment for the Defendant's prior behavior. The Court further finds clear, convincing and compelling reasons for deviating from said guidelines. The Defendant's record indicates prior convictions on eight three (sic) degree felonies and three misdemeanors, some of which involve violent behavior. In the present case the Defendant, without provocation, shot into a car toward four innocent people, one of whom was a female nine months pregnant. He fired one into the car repeatedly until he wounded one of the occupants. He committed this act approximately two months

> > - 4 -

after committing a burglary involving over \$20,000.00 worth of firearms, some of which were hand guns. The Defendant displays no remorse for his behavior. Since 1977, he has been on probation, been in prison and been on parole. His behavior has not improved. The Defendant's prior actions indicate that he is a dangerous person with no respect for the law, and a menace to society.

(T 16).

The First District Court of Appeal held that if a defendant "affirmatively selects " to be sentenced pursuant to the guidelines, it is not necessary that there be a showing that he voluntarily waived his parole eligibility. (App.) In so holding, the Court recognized there were "meritorious arguments with respect to both sides of this issue" and certified the following question as one of great public importance:

> WHETHER A DEFENDANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT OF PROTECTION AGAINST EX POST FACTO LAWS IS VIOLATED WHEN HE AFFIRMATIVELY SELECTS, PURSUANT TO SECTION 921.001(4)(a), FLORIDA STATUTES (1983), TO BE SENTENCED PURSUANT TO THE GUIDELINES BUT THERE IS NO SHOWING IN THE RECORD THAT THE COURT EXPLAINED THAT BY SELECTING GUIDELINES SENTENCING THE DE-FENDANT WAIVES HIS ELIGIBILITY FOR PAROLE.

(App).

The First District also rejected petitioner's argument concerning his conviction and sentence for both theft and dealing in stolen property because the same firearms were the subject of both offenses. (App). The Court held that Section 312.025, Florida Statutes, is inapplicable when a defendant pleads to both offenses pursuant to a plea bargaining agreement. (App).

- 5 -

Petitioner contends the record does not show that in electing a guidelines sentence he knowingly and intelligently waived the protection against ex post facto application of laws. Petitioner also contends that Section 812.025, Florida Statutes, prohibits his conviction and sentence for grand theft and dealing in stolen property in connection of one scheme or course of conduct.



IV ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE PETITIONER'S SENTENCE UNDER THE GUIDE-LINES SHOULD BE VACATED BECAUSE THE RECORD DOES NOT SHOW THAT IN ELECTING A GUIDELINES SENTENCE HE KNOWINGLY AND INTELLIGENTLY WAIVED THE PROTECTION AGAINST EX POST FACTO APPLICATION OF LAWS.

Petitioner had the option of electing sentencing under the guidelines promulgated as Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.701 or under the law as it existed before October 1, 1983. A major difference between the two options was that defendants electing guidelines would not be eligible for parole. §921.001(8), Fla.Stat. (1983).

Petitioner's crimes occurred before October 1, 1983, when offenders had a right to parole consideration. Loss of that right is "disadvantageous" and, if applied retroactively, the deprivation constitutes an ex post facto application of the law. <u>State</u> <u>v. Williams</u>, 397 So.2d 663 (Fla. 1981); cf., <u>Weaver v. Graham</u>, 450 U.S. 24 (1981) (retroactive diminution of gain time credits violated prohibition against ex post facto laws).

Petitioner never acknowledged that he had been informed of the right to elect whether to be sentenced under the guidelines or that by doing so he lost the right to parole. Without that knwoledge, the election announced by counsel could not have been a truly voluntary waiver of the protection against ex post facto laws. It is impermissible to presume waiver of a constitutional right from a silent record. <u>Carnley v. Cochran</u>, 369 U.S. 506 (1962); <u>Boykin v. Alabama</u>, 395 U.S. 238 (1969). The record is silent on the issue of whether petitioner understood that by electing to be sentenced under the guidelines he was relinquishing

- 7 -

the statutory right to parole consideration, and also the constitutional right not to lose that statutory right by an expost facto enactment. The election, therefore, is constitutionally deficient.

The protection against ex post facto application of the law is founded upon guarantees of the Florida and federal constitutions.¹ These rights were personal to petitioner and a waiver of them cannot be presumed when the record is silent.² The remarks of petitioner's counsel making the selection on petitioner's behalf do not amount to a knowing and intelligent waiver by petitioner of ex post facto protections.

When considering the constitutional rights waived by a plea of guilty the United States Supreme Court has firmly declared that a silent record will not suffice. <u>Boykin v. Alabama</u>, 395 U.S. 238 (1969). Represented by counsel, Boykin was asked no questions by the judge and did not address the court. After listing the federal constitutional rights waived by a guilty plea the Court said:

> What is at stake for an accused facing death or imprisonment demands the utmost solicitude of which courts are capable in canvassing the matter with the accused to make sure he has a full understanding of what the plea connotes and of its consequence. (Emphasis added).

395 U.S. at 243, 244.

Thus it was error, plain on the face of the record, for the court to have accepted the guilty plea "without an affirmative showing that it was intelligent and voluntary". <u>Id.</u>, at 242.

<u>1</u>/ Art. 1, §§ 9, 10 United States Const.; Art. 1, §10, Fla. Const.
<u>2</u>/ See, Harris v. State, 436 So.2d 787 (Fla. 1983); Brookhart v.
Janis, 384 U.S. 1 (1966).

- 8 -

In <u>Barker v. Wingo</u>, 407 U.S. 514 (1972) the Court dismissed the doctrine of waiver in connection with the Sixth Amendment right to a speedy trial. Rejecting the argument that without a demand the accused should be presumed to have wiaved the right to a speedy trial the Court said:

> Such an approach, by presuming a waiver of a fundamental right from inaction, is inconsistent with this Court's pronouncements on waiver of constitutional rights. The Court has defined waiver as "an intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right or privliege." Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 464 (1938). Courts should "indulge every reasonable presumption against waiver," Aetna Insurance Company v. Kennedy, 301 U.S. 389, 393 (1937), and they should "not presume acquiescence in the loss of fundamental rights." Ohio Bell Telephone Company v. Public Utilities Commission, 301 U.S. 292, 307 (1937). 407 U.S. at 525, 526.

Neither the Supreme Court by rule or the legislature by statute enacted any procedure for making and recording a "selection" of a guidelines sentence. Even without a rule or statute, the trial judge is required by force of the United States Constitution to insure that the waiver of constitutional rights inherent in a selection of guidelines sentencing is voluntary and intelligent. The silent record in this case does not suffice.

What happened to petitioner here is best described as a classic sandbag. Petitioner pled nolo to several serious offenses in reliance on negotiations that were built around the guidelines. He was never informed on the record that even for a sentence within the guidelines he was giving up the right to parole; nor was he told on the record that the judge could deviate from the guidelines and impose whatever sentence was authorized by law and even then he still would have lost his parole eligibility. The trial

- 9 -

judge, on the other hand, had to have known before he pronounced the sentence that he was going to exceed the guidelines. He also knew that the nolo pleas were made with the expectation of a guidelines sentence. Yet, without insuring that petitioner's waiver of ex post facto rights was made knowingly, the judge drastically departed from the guidelines. Basic fairness dictates that the petitioner should have been given some warnings of his rights, or the option to withdraw the election. How can it be justice for a judge to allow an unknowing waiver of a constitutional right to be made in reliance upon an expected benefit and then, without warning, take away both the right and the benefit?³

The remedy for the ex post facto violation in this case is a new sentencing hearing with petitioner being given an opportunity to make a knowing and intelligent election whether to waive the right to parole consideration in exchange for a sentence

Should the trial judge not concur in a tendered plea of guilty or nolo contendere arising from negotiations, the plea may be withdrawn.

Perhaps even more pertinent is Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.171(d) which openly and fairly states:

After an agreement on a plea has been reached, the trial judge may have make known to him the agreement and reasons therefore prior to the acceptance of the plea. <u>Thereafter</u>, he shall advise the parties of whether other factors (unknown at the time) may make his concurrence impossible. (Emphasis added).

- 10 -

^{3/} Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.172(g) offers a helpful parallel to the procedure which should have been followed after the trial judge decided he could not sentence within the guidelines. The rule states:

imposed under the guidelines. It is not argued here that petitioner would necessarily have to be given the sentence which the guidelines score indicates. He is entitled, however, to be fully informed of the consequences of the selection, the most significant of which is parole ineligibility. Without that knowledge the purported waiver, exposing him to a retoractivity applied enhance penalty, violated due process and was void. The sentence should be vacated and remanded for petitioner to make a voluntary and intelligent election.

- 11 -

ISSUE II

PETITIONER WAS CONVICTED OF BOTH THEFT AND TRAFFICKING INVOLVING THE SAME STOLEN PROPERTY IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 812.025, FLORIDA STATUTES.

Petitioner was charged with stealing and trafficking in firearms. The factual basis for the nolo contendere plea to both charges was that the same firearms were the subject of both offenses and were disposed of within one day of the theft.

Section 812.025, Fla.Stat. (1981) states:

Charging theft and dealing in stolen property. Nothwithstanding any other provision of law, a single indictment or information may, under proper circumstances, charge theft and dealing in stolen property in connection with one scheme or course of conduct in separate counts that may be consolidated for trial, but the trier of fact may return a guilty verdict on one or other, but not both, of the counts.

Dealing in stolen property is proscribed by §812.019, Fla. Stat. (9181). Obviously the legislative intent in passing §812. 025 was to prevent a person from being convicted of both stealing and trafficking in the same property. The District Court of Appeal held the statute to be limited to cases involving a jury verdict. (App.). The Court found that since petitioner had plead nolo contendere to both charges pursuant to a plea bargaining agreement, the statute was inapplicable. (App).

In <u>Lennear v. State</u>, 424 So.2d 151 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981) the defendant was convicted of grand theft and dealing in stolen property. As in this case, the evidence showed only one scheme or course of conduct involving the theft and sale of the property. Reversing the theft conviction the Court said:

> The State argues that two crimes were committed, not one, and thus multiple convic-

> > - 12 -

tions and sentences are permissible under section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes (1981). From a double jeopardy standpoint, the State's position seems to be correct, and without section 812.025, both convictions and sentences would appear to be proper. But, the legislature has the right to define crimes and provide for their punishment. Whalen v. United States, 445 U.S. 684, 689, 100 S.Ct. 1432, 1436, 63 L.Ed.2d 715 (1980), and so must control, especially in view of the clear intention that it apply "Notwithstanding any other provision of law . . . " (footnote omitted).

424 So.2d at 153.

In <u>Cleaves v. State</u>, 450 So.2d 511 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), the Second District Court of Appeal indicated if the facts clearly showed one scheme or course of conduct a defendant could not be convicted and sentenced for both theft and dealing in stolen property. In <u>Cleaves</u> the Court found the record was insufficient to determine any facts as to the underlying crimes. The assistant state attorney gave the factual basis for the plea at the hearing, showing that both the theft and the dealing in stolen property arose from one scheme or course of events.

Petitioner's conviction and sentence for the grand theft charge must be reversed.

- 13 -

V CONCLUSION

For the reasons and authorities set forth, petitioner respectfully requests his convictions and sentences be reversed and a new trial be ordered in this cause.

Respectfully submitted,

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LARRY G. BRYANT

Assistant Public Defender Post Office Box 671 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER