• IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 

RONNIE DEWEY BROWN,� 

Petitioner,� 

v. CASE NO.: 66,921 

STATE OF FLORIDA, 

Respondent.� 

---------_/�

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

• 
Ronnie Dewey Brown, the criminal defendant below, will 

be referred to herein as Petitioner. The State of Florida, 

the prosecution and appellee below, will be referred to 

herein as Respondent. 

The record on appeal consists of two separately bound 

and numbered record volumes. Citations to the record con­

cerning the assault charges will be indicated parenthetically 

as "A" with the appropriate page number(s). Citations to 

the record concerning the theft charges will be indicated 

parenthetically as "T" with the appropriate page number(s). 

Citations to Petitioner's brief on the merits will be indicated 

parenthetically as "PB" with the appropriate page number(s). 

Citations to Petitioner's supplemental brief will be indicated 

parenthetically as "SB" with the appropriate page number(s). 

• 
The lower court's decision is reported as Brown v. State, 

464 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), a copy of which is attached 

hereto as an appendix. 
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• STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

For purposes of resolving the issues raised herein 

Respondent accepts as accurate, though incomplete, Petitioner's 

Statement of the Case and Facts (PB 2-5, SB 2) and therefore 

submits the following additional information: 

The record reflects that Petitioner knowingly and volun­

tarily entered his nolo pleas to grand theft and dealing in 

stolen property (A 30-36) in return for the following con­

cessions from the State: 

1. Dismissal of a charge of shooting 
into an occupied vehicle. 

2. Prosecution of no further charges 
regarding the facts known in the cases. 

3. Petitioner would not be filed on• as an habitual offender. 

4. No opposition to Petitioner's 
remaining on bond pending sentence. 

(A 29,30). 

• 2 



• SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Petitioner's claim concerning the need for a knowing 

and intelligent waiver of parole elegibility to appear 

affirmatively on the record when guidelines sentencing is 

elected was recently rejected by this Court in Cochran v. 

State, 10 F.L.W. 492 (Fla. Sept. 5, 1985), thereby mandating 

affirmance of the lower court on this issue. 

Petitioner next challenges the lower court's holding that 

Florida Statutes § 812.025 was inapplicable to the instant 

case and its affirmance of his conviction and sentences for 

both stealing and trafficking in the same stolen property. 

Respondent argues that the issue was not properly preserved in 

• the trial court, was erroneously reviewed by the lower court 

and should not be entertained by this Court. Respondent alter­

natively argues that the lower court's decision on the merits 

was correct since Florida Statutes § 812.025, on its face, does 

not apply to cases where, as here, the defendant pleads to both 

offenses pursuant to a plea bargain agreement and absent the 

statute there is no reason, including double jeopardy concerns, 

why a person might not be the thief and also be guilty of 

dealing in the same stolen property. 

• 

Finally, Petitioner seeks relief under this Court's 

recent decision in Albritton v. State, infra, claiming that 

some of the trial judge's reasons for departure are invalid 

and there is no indication that he would have departed in the 
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• absence of such reasons and that the extent of the departure 

was excessive. Respondent first argues that all of the reasons 

for departure were valid and thus no Albritton claim as to 

the initial departure decision will lie. Respondent further 

argues that even if any or all of the reasons challenged by 

Petitioner are found invalid, it is clear, beyond a reasonable 

doubt that the trial judge still would have departed in the 

absence of such reasons. Lastly, Respondent argues that appli­

cation of the "reasonableness" test set forth in Albritton to 

the case at bar demonstrates that the trial judge's sentencing 

disposition herein was not an abuse of discretion and should 

be upheld. 

• 

• 4 



• ARGUMENT 

ISSUE I 

PETITIONER'S SENTENCE UNDER THE 
GUIDELINES SHOULD NOT BE VACATED 
BECAUSE A KNOWING AND INTELLIGENT 
WAIVER OF PAROLE ELIGIBILITY NEED 
NOT AFFIRMATIVELY APPEAR ON THE 
RECORD. (Restated by Respondent.) 

The lower court rejected Petitioner's claim that his 

sentence under the guidelines should be vacated because a 

knowing and intelligent waiver of parole eligibility did 

not affirmatively appear on the record and certified the 

following question: 

• WHETHER A DEFENDANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL 
RIGHT OF PROTECTION AGAINST EX POST 
FACTO LAWS IS VIOLATED, WHEN HE 
AFFIRMATIVELY SELECTS, PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 921.001(4)(a), FLORIDA STA­
TUTES (1983), TO BE SENTENCED 
PURSUANT TO THE GUIDELINES BUT THERE 
IS NO SHOWING IN THE RECORD THAT THE 
COURT EXPLAINED THAT BY SELECTING 
GUIDELINES SENTENCING THE DEFENDANT 
WAIVES HIS ELIGIBILITY FOR PAROLE. 

Brown v. State, 464 So.2d 193,194 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). This 

Court answered the foregoing question in the negative in 

Cochran v. State, 10 F.L.W. 492 (Fla. Sept. 5, 1985). 

Consequently, Petitioner is not entitled to relief on this 

issue. 

• 5 



• ISSUE II 

THE ISSUE OF WHETHER APPELLANT WAS 
CONVICTED OF BOTH THEFT AND TRAFFICKING 
INVOLVING THE SAME STOLEN PROPERTY IN 
VIOLATION OF FLORIDA STATUTES § 812.025, 
WAS NOT PROPERLY SUBJECT TO REVIEW 
BELOW AND, ALTERNATIVELY, THE JUDGMENT 
OF CONVICTION ENTERED AGAINST APPELLANT 
AND THE SENTENCE IMPOSED PURSUANT TO HIS 
NOLO CONTENDERE PLEA TO GRAND THEFT 
SHOULD NOT BE VACATED. (Restated by 
Petitioner.) 

Petitioner seeks reversal of his conviction and sentence 

for grand theft claiming that Florida Statutes § 812.025 

prohibits a person from being convicted of both stealing 

and trafficking in the same property. 

• Petitioner admitted that this issue was not raised at 

trial (see Initial Brief of Appellant, p.20) and the record 

is devoid of any indication that Petitioner, upon entry of 

his nolo pleas, reserved the right to appeal the issue. 

Thus, the lower court's review of the issue was procedurally 

barred, Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332,338 (Fla. 1982), 

as well as jurisdictionally barred. Skinner v. State, 399 

So.2d 1064 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); Hall v. State, 397 So.2d 

1041 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); Wells v. State, 390 So.2d 809 (Fla. 

5th DCA 1980); Fla.R.App.P. 9.140(b). Since the issue, which 

is ancillary to the certified question upon which this Court 

exercised its jurisdiction, was not properly preserved at 

trial and therefore erroneously entertained by the lower 

• court, this Court should decline review. Cochran v. State, 
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• supra. See also Tillman v. State, 10 F.L.W. 305 (Fla. June 

6, 1985); Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1983). 

In the event this Court should decide to reach the 

merits of this issue, Respondent would alternatively argue 

that the lower court correctly decided the issue holding that: 

... section 812.025 is inapplicable in 
situations where, as in the present case, 
the defendant pleads nolo contendere to 
both offenses pursuant to a plea bargaining 
arrangement. By its own terms, the 
statute is limited to cases involving 
a jury verdict as to one or both of the 
offenses. Because there is no double 
jeopardy prohibition against defendant 
being convicted and sentenced for both 
offenses, Lennear v. State, 424 So.2d 
151 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), we affirm on 
issue 3 . 

• Brown v. State, supra at 195. 

The record reflects that Petitioner knowingly and volun­

tarily entered his nolo pleas to grand theft and dealing in 

stolen property (A 30-36) in return for certain concessions 

afforded him by the State, to-wit: dismissal of a charge of 

shooting into an occupied vehicle; prosecution of no further 

charges regarding the facts known in these cases; Petitioner 

would not be filed on as an habitual offender; and no opposi­

tion to Petitioner's remaining on bond pending sentence (A 29, 

30). 

Florida Statutes § 812.025 provides: 

• 
Notwithstanding any other provision of 
law, a single indictment or information 
may, under proper circumstances, charge 
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• theft and dealing in stolen property 
in connection with one scheme or course 
of conduct in separate counts that may 
be consolidated for trial, but the 
trier of fact may return a guilty 
verdict on one or the other, but not 
both, of the counts. [Emphasis 
added.] 

• 

While the statute precludes the trier of fact from returning 

a guilty verdict on both counts, it does not preclude an 

adjudication of guilt and imposition of sentence predicated 

upon a knowing and voluntary nolo contendere plea to both 

counts pursuant to a plea bargain agreement. Since in the 

absence of Florida Statutes § 812.025, there is no reason, 

including double jeopardy concerns, why a person might not 

be the thief and also be guilty of dealing in the same stolen 

property, Coley v. State, 391 So.2d 725,727 (Fla. 1st DCA 

1981), Lennear v. State, 424 So.2d 151,152 (Fla. 5th DCA 

1982), and since the statute does not preclude an adjudica­

tion of guilt and imposition of sentence on both counts 

predicated upon nolo contendere pleas, Petitioner's convic­

tion for grand theft and resulting sentence should not be 

vacated. 1,2 

1petitioner's reliance on Cleaves v. State, 450 So.2d 
511 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), is misplaced since the district court, 
in reviewing an order revoking the appellant's probation 
refused to address the issue raised herein holding that: 

• 
Any inference derived from the fact that 
the same property was involved on dates 
in close proximity with each other is 
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• Accordingly, Petitioner's conviction and sentence for 

grand theft should be affirmed because the issue was not 

preserved at trial and improperly entertained below, or, 

alternatively, because, as the lower court correctly concluded, 

Florida Statutes § 812.025 was inapplicable to the instant 

case and in the absence thereof there exists no prohibition 

against Petitioner being convicted and sentenced for both 

offenses. 

1 (Continued from page 7). 

• 
:not enough to make void the previous 
adjudications of guilt based on the 
prior nolo contendere pleas. An 
appeal from an order revoking proba­
tion may only review proceedings 
subsequent to the order or probation. 

rd. at 512. 

• 

2Assuming arguendo that Florida Statutes § 812.025 
is applicable to the instant case, Respondent contends that 
Petitioner, by virtue of his knowing and voluntary nolo 
contendere pleas, waived any benefits afforded him under 
the statutes as a condition of his plea bargain agreement. 
If it is impermissible for a trial judge, who accepted a 
bargained guilty plea agreement thereby binding the defen­
dant and the prosecution, to rescind his acceptance of the 
agreement, United States v. Cruz, 709 F.2d 111 (1st Cir. 
1983), and if it is impermissible for the prosecution to 
renege on a promise inducing a guilty plea, Santobe110 v. 
New York, 404 U.S. 257, 92 S.Ct. 495, 30 L.Ed.2d 427 (1971), 
then it is likewise impermissible for a defendant to attempt 
to relieve himself of a detriment he incurred as a condition 
of a plea agreement. Having enjoyed the benefits of a plea 
bargain, Petitioner cannot now be permitted to avoid a 
detriment he knowingly and voluntarily incurred. 

9 
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•� 

•� 

ISSUE III 

THE TRIAL JUDGE'S IMPOSITION OF A 
SENTENCE IN EXCESS OF THE GUIDELINES 
RECOMMENDED RANGE WAS NOT ERROR IN 
TERMS OF EITHER THE PROPRIETY OF THE 
DEPARTURE OR THE EXTENT THEREOF. 
(Restated by Respondent.) 

Petitioner seeks remand of this cause for resentencing 

pursuant to Albritton v. State, 10 F.L.W. 426 (Fla. Aug. 29, 

1985), claiming that some of the trial judge's reasons for 

departure were improper and there was no clear indication that 

he would have departed in the absence of said reasons and that 

the extent of the departure was excessive. 

Initially, Respondent contends that all of the reasons 

relied upon by the trial judge were valid and Petitioner is 

therefore without grounds to raise an Albritton claim. The 

trial judge predicated his departure upon the following reasons: 

The sentencing guidelines recommend a 
sentence of 4~ to 5~ years (202 points). 
The Court finds· that this recommended 
sentence is inadequate punishment for 
the Defendant's prior behavior. The 
Court further finds clear, convincing and 
compelling reasons for deviating from 
said guidelines. The Defendant's re­
cord indicates prior convictions on 
eight three degree felonies and three 
misdemeanors, some of which involve 
violent behavior. In the present case 
the Defendant, without provocation, 
shot into a car toward four innocent 
people, one of whom was a female nine 
months pregnant. He fired into the 
car repeatedly until he wounded one 
of the occupants. He committed this 

10 



• act approximately two months after 
committing a burglary involving 
over $20,000.00 worth of firearms, 
some of which were hand 8uns. The 
Defendant displays no remorse for 
his behavior. Since 1977, he has 
been on probation, been in prison and 
been on parole. His behavior has not 
improved. The Defendant's prior 
actions indicated that he is a danger­
ous person with no respect for the 
law, and a menace to society.... 

(A 19). 

• 

Petitioner first takes exception to the trial judge's 

reliance upon his prior record as a reason for departure 

(SB 4), evidently because his prior record had already been 

factored into the scoring. See Hendrix v. State, 10 F.L.W. 

425 (Fla. Aug. 29, 1985). Hendrix is inapposite to the 

instant case since the scoresheet utilized by the trial judge 

(A 18), made� no provision for assigning points to four of 

Petitioner's eight prior felony convictions. Consequently, 

the trial judge properly could have relied upon Petitioner's 

prior record� to the extent that it wasn't accounted for in 

the scoresheet. Weems v. State, 469 So.2d 128 (Fla. 1985); 

Russell v. State, 458 So.2d 422 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). See also 

Young v. State, 455 So.2d 551,553 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), Nimmons 

J., dissenting. 

• 

Petitioner next takes exception to the trial judge's 

reason for departure concerning his having fired into a car 

toward four innocent people, one of whom was nine months 

pregnant (SB 4,5). He claims that this reason is invalid 

11 



• under Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701(d)(11), since it was based upon 

circumstances of an offense or arrest for which no convictions 

had been obtained. The record reflects that Petitioner was 

charged with, pled to, and was adjudicated guilty of aggravated 

battery with a firearm of David Gurley (A 1,12,13). Respondent 

maintains that the facts that other people were in the car with 

Gurley, and that one of them was pregnant, were matters related 

to the nature and circumstances of the offense for wh~ch 

Petitioner was convicted, were therefore not precluded from 

consideration by Fla.R.Crim.P. 3. 701(d)(11), and were properly 

relied upon by the trial judge as a reason for departure. 

Manning v. State, 452 So.2d 136 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). See also 

•� 
Garcia v. State, 454 So.2d 714 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) .� 

The last reason challeneed by Petitioner was his lack of 

remorse. He claims that the trial judge erred in relying upon 

said reason as a basis for departure and that the lower court's 

failure to so hold was inconsistent with its decision in Hunt 

• 

v. State, 468 So.2d 1100 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (SB 5). In 

Hunt, the lower court cited Hubler v. State, 458 So.2d 350 

(Fla. 1st DCA 1984) and Mischler v. State, 458 So.2d 37 (Fla. 

4th DCA 1984) as supporting authority for its disposition of 

the lack of remorse issue. Both of those cases stand for 

the proposition it is error to depart from the guidelines for 

failure to show remorse in the face of unflagging protestations 

of innocence. Mischler v. State, supra at 38; Hubler v. State, 

supra at 353. Inasmuch as the instant record contains no such 

12 



protestations of innocence, unflagging or otherwise, on 

Petitioner's part, the lower court's silence concerning the 

trial judge's reliance upon lack of remorse herein is not at 

all at odds with Hunt or Hubler and Mischler. 

• 

Moreover, in cases such as this, where the defendant has 

not attempted to assert innocence, a showing of remorse or 

contrition on his part could serve as a positive indication 

of his prospects for rehabilitation--still a valid sentencing 

concern under the guidelines. See Smith v. State, 454 So.2d 

90 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); Higgs v. State, 455 So.2d 451 (Fla. 

5th DCA 1984); Swain v. State, 455 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1st DCA 

1984); Kiser v. State, 455 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); 

Jean v. State, 455 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); Burke v . 

State, 456 So.2d 1245 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). Concomitantly, a 

lack of remorse under such circumstances, as was the case 

here, should properly be considered by the sentencing judge 

as a relevant factor demonstrating unamenability to rehabili­

tation. 

Petitioner does not challenge the validity of the remainder 

of the trial judge's reasons for departure which are briefly 

summarized as follows: 

1. Commission of the aggravated battery 
within two months of the commission of a 
burglary involving $20,000.00 worth of 
firearms, some of which were hand guns. 

•� 
2. Petitioner's unamenability to re­�
habilitation .� 

13 



• 3. The danger Petitioner poses to 
society. 

(A 19). As a result, Respondent contends that all of the 

reasons relied upon by the trial judge were valid and his 

decision to depart was therefore not error. 

• 

However, for the purpose of addressing Petitioner's claim 

under Albritton v. State, supra,3 Respondent argues that even 

if one or more of the reasons for departure challenged by 

Petitioner are found to be invalid, it is clear, beyond a 

reasonable doubt, that the trial judge still would have departed 

in the absence of any such invalid reason or reasons. See 

Brooks v. State, 10 F.L.W. 479 (Fla. Aug. 29, 1985), indicating 

that Albritton was not intended to have set forth a per se 

rule of reversal whenever a reason is found invalid. 

The best evidence� that the trial judge would have 

departed, and to the same extent, notwithstanding the invali­

dity of one or all of the challenged reasons is found in the 

underlying theme permeating the entirety of his statement of 

reasons for departure, to-wit: Petitioner's unamenability to 

rehabilitation and the resultant real and constant danger he 

poses to society due either to his inability or lack of desire 

to conform his conduct to the dictates of the law. Put 

simply, removal of any or all of the challenged reasons from 

• 
3The lower court did not have the benefit of this Court's 

decision in Albritton when it disposed of the instant case . 

14 



• the calculus which lead to the departure decision herein 

would not change the bottom line which is in essence a 

reasonable judicial determination that the guidelines recom­

mended range herein was woefully inadequate to afford society 

protection from a career criminal. Consequently, remand 

of this cause for resentencing is unnecessary. 

With respect to Petitioner's argument that the extent of 

the trial judge's departure was excessive, this Court, in 

Albritton, stated that "the proper standard of review is 

whether the judge abused his judicial discretion." Albritton 

v. State, supra at 10 F.L.W. 426. This Court added that the 

reviewing court "should look to the guidelines sentence, the 

extent of the departure, the reasons given for the departure,

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